Date:
7 July 2003

To:
Participants in the Lancaster/SLU Electronic Ruskin Project

From:
David Hanson

Re.:
NEH Report on Early Ruskin Manuscripts Hypertext Edition Application


I’m enclosing the full report from the NEH about our application. As you can see, although we did not make the final cut, we did very well—well enough, that the NEH is encouraging us to revise the application and try again. 

The cover letter from the NEH staff explains the judging process in detail; briefly, the application is reviewed first by “specialists”—i.e., Ruskin specialists in particular, or Victorian scholars more generally—and second by an NEH in-house panel on editions. The former gave us the highest possible rating; in fact, the six judges scarcely raised any problems at all, and were full of praise. It was the panelists who downgraded us to the next level. Even that next level is a recommendation for funding (“Very Good—Recommended”), so we were ultimately refused because some other applications rated just a notch higher, not because there are fatal problems with the project. Rather, there are some specific problems that need addressing in a revised application.

· Better accounting of coding and electronic product.—This is the most important problem. We need to get much clearer in our own minds how this electronic product will work and how to ensure it meets the “standards of most of the electronic editions NEH now finances,” as one panelist puts it. There is a rhetorical conflict in the application procedure itself, which is paper-based, not electronic, and which asks for description of the electronic product almost as an afterthought. One panelist perhaps reflects some conflict in the program’s priorities, in praising us for clarifying “what work needs to be done without drowning the reader in the details of digital encoding.” But such ambivalence on their part does not change the fact that we need to come up with a credible design and assurance of standards before, not after, resubmission of the application.

· Quality of scanned manuscript images.—One panelist and one specialist reviewer were dismayed about the legibility of the manuscript image available on the Modern Painters site. In a revision, we can admit (is this not true?) that the MP image came from an inferior original, an existing microfilm, and that we should be able to do better (particularly if Yale’s imaging charges, so disproportionate to others’, are justified). More to the point, it can be stressed that manuscript transcripts will occupy a more central place in Early Manuscripts than in the Modern Painters edition, and that the manuscript images are chiefly needed to inform the reader about the appearance and manner of presentation (fancy calligraphy, printing in imitation of typeface, illustrations) rather than to check the accuracy of the transcriptions at a very detailed level, although that function would be desirable insofar as possible. The specialist reviewer who raises this concern worries about visibility of “marginal notations.” I don’t know what this means; I can’t think offhand of early mss. that have such notations. Perhaps that reviewer was basing that criticism on the Modern Painters ms.

· Sample of editing included in the application.—As a sample of the editing, I used a very early text—truly juvenilia—rather than a more intellectually sophisticated text from young manhood, Ruskin’s preparatory work for the first major criticism. When I made that choice, I worried about a concern that the panelists (not the specialists) did in fact raise—that the material would not seem self-evidently valuable. The panelists ultimately concluded that the overall substance of the edition was justified; nonetheless, I would do better to substitute a later example. The reasons I chose the earlier text are that I had on hand photocopies of that particular original ms., which NEH requires to be included in the sample, and that the sample editing for this text was polished and thorough, while also brief enough to fit in the short space allowed for a sample. These practical considerations remain a problem, but I have more time to account for them and still use a later sample.

· Omission of texts.—One panelist regretted the omission of the early letters and the 1830 diary. Quoting the application, the panelist remarked, “although they may be ‘available in acceptable modern editions,’ their inclusion in the electronic edition would only make it more useful.” This panelist gave us good marks, but it appears from the handwritten comments summarizing the panel’s oral discussion, that this decision became a significant issue; and I’m miffed that it got represented at that level as “the omission of important early texts.” None of the specialist reviewers raised this question, and I find its inflation as a significant issue misplaced. What is being proposed? That we reedit the family letters and the 1830 diary? As I pointed out in the application, errors in RFL respecting the poems are accounted for in appropriate places, and minor errors concerning the letters are listed in the bibliographic apparatus; otherwise, it’s hard to think how either of those editions could be improved. RFL, in particular, is a classic of editing. Is it proposed instead that we incorporate the existing editions? Would Cornell and Scolar be willing to relinquish these texts after 30 and 13 years, respectively (assuming that Jim and Van would be willing)? I can seek the advice of the NEH staff, and put out feelers to Van and Jim, but what do all of you think about the alleged problem? 

· Editorial theory staff member.—This is not a problem raised by the evaluators but a suggestion of Keith’s. At the time I’m sending you this, I’ve written to George Landow to ask if he knows of someone with a formal and extensive background in editorial theory and electronic editing who might want to join the team. I agree that such a person would be key element in a successful project and reapplication.

